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Buchanan, inset enlargement, from William Burt’s 1857 survey map

and local historians have disputed the townsite’s loca-
tion, appearance, and, indeed, argued whether Bu-
chanan existed at all. For example, R. B. McLean, an
early copper prospector and the first United States
postmaster at the North Shore community of Beaver
Bay, recorded in his reminiscences an optimistic begin-
ning for the town: “Timbers were taken out, nicely
hewed for five two-story buildings.” Two of these were
used by the land officers and the others served as hotels
and boardinghouses. McLean also noted several cabins
occupied by “miners, loggers and workmen.”

3R, B. McLean, “Reminiscences of Early Days at the
Head of the Lakes,” undated, unpublished paper in Lake
County Historical Society, partially quoted in Van Brunt,
Duluth and St. Louis County, 1:122.

“Here and below, see John R. Carey, “History of Duluth,
St. Louis County, to the Year 1870, in Collections of the
Minnesota Historical Society (St. Paul: The Society, 1901),
9:272; Van Brunt, Duluth and St. Louis County, 1:122, 152;
Writers Program, Works Projects Administration, comp.,
The WPA Guide to the Minnesota Arrowhead Country (1941;
reprint, St. Paul: MHS Press, 1988), 11. On Carey, see Warren
Upham and Rose B. Dunlap, Minnesota Biographies,
1655-1912 (St. Paul: MHS, 1912), 106.

Judge John R. Carey, who settled in the area in
1854, was more vague and less complimentary toward
Buchanan: “Like many other paper towns on the north
shore [it] never amounted to anything. Cowell never
obtained title to the land embraced in the townsite. It
was a wilderness while the land-office was located
there, and it became still more so, after the removal of
that office to Portland.™

Writing a generation after Buchanan was aban-
doned, Carey also claimed that when Whipple arrived
at the townsite in 1857, “there was not a single human
habitation to be found.” Years later, members of a fed-
eral writers’ project recorded, “In 1856 the Govern-
ment established a land office at Buchanan, a forest-
covered wilderness offering not even a place to land a
boat. John Whipple, the receiver, viewed the site with
dismay, then opened his office in 1857 in an abandoned
house two miles distant, in the deserted Montezuma
[townsite], which thereupon became Buchanan. . . .
Here the mouth of the Sucker River provided at least a
good beach.”

But Buchanan was more than a paper town and a
forest-covered wilderness. The suggestion that the land
office was not even located at Cowell’s original town-
site is soundly refuted by primary sources, most notably
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the documents left by federal land surveyor William
Burt. His 1857 field notes place the town at Cowell’s
location, just west of the mouth of the Knife River, and
the maps he drew also confirm the site.®

The area has been occupied for most of the past
century, and today is encompassed, in part, by the
small fishing and tourist town of Knife River. Besides
countless copper hunters, loggers, and fishermen who
have tramped the Buchanan woods, the site has also
been crossed by two major thoroughfares—U. S. High-
way 61 and the scenic North Shore Drive. Two railroads
also traversed the site: the Duluth, Missabe & Iron
Range, between Duluth and Two Harbors, and the
now-gone Duluth & Northern Minnesota logging line,
which was headquartered at Knife River for the first
two decades of this century. The area has undoubtedly
been much altered since John Whipple moved his office
to Portland in the summer of 1859.

A historic marker along the scenic roadway places
the office in the southwest corner of the platted town-
site. But Burt’s maps contradict the plaque and settle a
dispute between local historians who do not agree on
the exact location of the land-office quarters within the
315-acre Buchanan townsite. The surveyor pinpointed
the federal building (or buildings) very near the lake-
shore and immediately east of the range line between
Lake and St. Louis counties. The exact spot may well
be beneath the asphalt surface of the old North Shore
highway.

Carey’s claim that Cowell never held title to the
townsite cannot be substantiated but may well be true.
Few, if any, of the original settlers paid cash for their
holdings; rather, they filed federal preemption claims
and owned the land simply by living on it. But when
rich dreams faded and disillusioned homesteaders left
the northwoods, their plots reverted to the government.
Cowell’s town probably followed this general rule.

But Land Office Buchanan did exist and did flour-
ish. The lives of such men as John Whipple and Samuel
Clark are testimony to the fact. And while references to
the townsite will always be open to speculation, per-
haps the most accurate description of the location was
written by Leonidas Merritt in 1914. Merritt, com-
memorated as one of the “‘seven iron men” of Minnesota
mining history, arrived at Superior as a child in 1856

The illustrations on p. 281 and 287 are from the author; all
others are in the MHS collections.
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and spent most of his life exploring and exploiting the
region’s wilderness. From memories of his youth, the
iron man reconstructed the forest community: “Not
many may know that in 1856 and 1857, on the North
Shore of Lake Superior, just this side of Knife Island,
was located a pretty little city called Buchanan, at that
time the emporium of the North Shore, with a preten-
tious hotel, kept by one George Stull, the United States
land office, steamboat docks, several saloons, boarding
houses, etc. The town was abandoned soon after Min-
nesota was admitted to the Union. The several homes
and business places mentioned stood for many years
tenantless and intact, until finally destroyed by forest
fire.”* Merritt recalled the true air of Land Office Bu-
chanan, now totally gone but once the commercial hub
of Lake Superior's bustling North Shore.

“Burt, field notes and survey maps, Township No. 52 N_,
Range No. 11 West of the 4th Mer[idian], and Township No.
52 N, Range No. 12 West of the 4th Mer., received Oct. 19,
1857, in U.S. Department of Interior, Bureau of Land Man-
agement, Washington, D.C., copies in Lake County High-
way Dept. Various contradictory locations for the land office
proper appear in Wieland, “Some Facts and Incidents”; Ad-
ams, “North Shore”; and William E. Scott, “The Political
Development of Lake County.” unpublished paper, Aug.,
1935, in Lake County Historical Society.

“Paul De Kruif, Seven Iron Men (New York: Harcourt,
Brace and Co., 1929), 5; Adams, “North Shore”; Van Brunt,
Duluth and St. Louis County, 1:123.
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